N-Acylation in combinatorial chemistry

Alan R. Katritzky,* Kazuyuki Suzuki, and Sandeep K. Singh

Center for Heterocyclic Compounds, Department of Chemistry, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611-7200 E-mail: katritzky@chem.ufl.edu

(received 17 Nov 03; accepted 29 Feb 04; published on the web 13 Mar 04)

Abstract

Polymer-supported N-acylation utilizing carbodiimides with additives, direct coupling reagents (phosphonium salts and uronium salts), N-acylazoles, and other reagents have been discussed.

Keywords: N-Acylation, N-acylating reagents, solid-phase, polymer-supported, combinatorial chemistry

Contents

Introduction

- 1. Reagents for formation of active esters
 - 1.1. 1-Hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBt)
 - 1.2. 1-Hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole (HOAt)
 - 1.3. 3,4-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-4-oxo-1,2,3-benzotriazine (HO-Dhbt)
 - 1.4. *N*-Hydroxysuccinimide (HOSu)
 - 1.5. Nitrophenol
 - 1.6. Pentafluorophenol
- 2. Alternative reagents for direct coupling to replace carbodiimides
 - 2.1. Phosphonium salts
 - 2.1.1. *O*-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris(dimethylamino)phosphonium
 - 2.1.2. *O*-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris(pyrrolidino)phosphonium
 - 2.1.3. 7-Azabenzotriazol-1-yloxytris(pyrrolidino)phosphonium
 - 2.2. Uronium salts
 - 2.2.1. *O*-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium salt
 - 2.2.2. *O*-(7-Azabenzotriazol-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium
 - 2.2.3. 2-Oxo- and 2-mercapto-pyridone 1-oxide-based uronium salts
 - 2.3. Halouronium and halophosphonium salts
 - 2.4. Benzotriazine derivatives

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 12 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

- 3. *N*-Acylazoles
 - 3.1. *N*-Acylimidazoles
 - 3.2. N-Acylbenzotriazoles
- 4. Other acylating reagents
 - 4.1. Amino acid halides
 - 4.2. N-Acyl-2-methylamino-2-thiazolines
 - 4.3. Lewis acid mediated N-acylation

Conclusions

Introduction

N-Acylation is an important reaction in combinatorial peptide synthesis. Small peptides are readily prepared in solution phase and since early 1960s many reagents have been developed to improve the yield and to reduce the racemization. However, solution phase synthesis of oligoand polypeptides has been largely replaced by solid phase synthesis, introduced by Merrifield and taking advantage of the fact that the insolubility of polymers allows purification by filtration. Another important aspect of solid phase synthesis is the production of a large number of compounds by combinations and permutations of components. This review will discuss N-acylation reactions, particularly as applied to solid phase synthesis using (i) conventional coupling reagents, and (ii) polymer-bound coupling reagents.

1. Reagents for formation of active esters

Active ester methodology has been much applied to form peptide bonds under mild conditions in both liquid-phase and solid-phase synthesis. In liquid-phase synthesis, most frequently the activation of the carboxyl group of amino acids has utilized 1-hydroxysuccinimides (HOSu) followed by esters of pentafluorophenol and nitrophenols; HOBt esters were found to be unstable. In solid-phase synthesis, 1-hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBt) derivatives including its phosphonium and uronium salts have been widely used. Other less common activating reagents are also discussed in this review. The preparation of these active esters requires a coupling reagent such as *N*,*N*'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC) or *N*, *N*'-diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC or DIPCDI). The active esters are then treated with amines (including amino acids) to form amides. This method of amide bond formation has been well documented. ^{1a,c}

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 13 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

1-Hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBt)

HOBt (1) is currently the most frequently used activating agent for the carboxyl group of amino acids. ^{1a} The procedure is fast and suppresses racemization, but the intermediate esters are moisture sensitive. ^{1a}

HOBt is used in liquid-phase, and also in solid-phase peptide synthesis. HOBt-DCC or -DIC methodology can be used in all peptide couplings. DIC is often preferred because its urea byproduct is more soluble in organic solvents than that formed from DCC. An N-protected amino acid and an amino acid are coupled in liquid-phase for preparation of small peptides such as dipeptides and tripeptides. Solid-phase peptide synthesis with HOBt-DCC is widely used in combinatorial peptide synthesis taking advantage of fast reactions. Large and small peptides can be prepared by this methodology in which polymer-bound peptides with free N-terminus are coupled with N-protected amino acids, and this sequence can be continued by N-terminal deprotection of a polymer-bound peptide, followed by adding another N-protected amino acid or carboxylic acid; all this work follows from the seminal contribution of Merrifield.³ Polymerbound HOBt (2) has been found to be a useful tool, providing simplified workup and purification procedures (Scheme 1).⁴ Moreover, preparation of more reactive polymer-supported HOBt esters, whose reactivity is enhanced by attaching the electron-withdrawing 6-sulfonamide moiety, has been synthesized. According to the acidity data, the reactivity of 1hydroxybenzotriazole-6-sulfonamide (pKa 3.59) is presumed to be the same as HOAt (pKa 3.47).⁵

Nowadays the acylating process on polymer-supported HOBt is frequently carried out with HOBt phosphonium, uronium, or onium salts, and these reagents will be discussed later.

 R^1CO_2H can be carboxylic acids or *N*-protected amino acids. R^2R^3NH can be primary and secondary amines.

Scheme 1

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 14 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

1.1. 1-Hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole (HOAt)

HOAt (3) was introduced as a carboxyl group activating reagent by Carpino in 1993, who reported that HOAt completes the coupling reaction faster than HOBt and indicates the completion of the acylation reaction with color change (yellow to colorless). HOAt with N-ethyl-N'-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC) system gave the most efficient activation with least racemization. The synthesis of HOAt, its coupling reaction, and the preparation of benzo-derivatives for comparison of their reactivities in liquid-phase have been reported by Carpino.

Use of HOAt as additives in DIC-mediated solid-phase peptide synthesis proved to be more effective in suppressing racemization as compared to using HOBt or other 1-hydroxy-1,2,3-tetrazoles. Glycosylated tripeptide mimics have been coupled to the *C*-terminal dipeptides attached to polystyrene-based resins (4) under HATU-HOAt-NEM (*N*-ethylmorpholine) conditions (Scheme 2).

Scheme 2

1.2. 3,4-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-4-oxo-1,2,3-benzotriazine (HO-Dhbt)

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 15 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

HO-Dhbt (**5**) has been reported as a coupling additive that can indicate the completion of acylation by color change.¹⁰ Unfortunately, HO-Dhbt has been reported to give a relatively higher degree of racemization than other azole derivatives in the presence of DIC when poly(ethylene glycol)-cross-linked polyamide (PEGA)-bound dipeptide was used for peptide synthesis.⁸ Fully protected amino acid esters of HO-Dhbt are stable crystalline solids, which can be stored for long periods at low temperature. Fmoc-amino acid esters with **5** are used for N-acylation with polydimethylacrylamide resin in solid-phase synthesis. However, a ring opening side-reaction leading to 2-azidobenzoic acid Dhbt ester was observed in DCC-mediated HO-Dhbt conditions.¹¹ Fmoc-amino acid esters with HO-Dhbt have been prepared in high yield (Scheme 3).¹²

Scheme 3

1.3. *N*-Hydroxysuccinimide (HOSu)

Among *N*-hydroxylamine derivatives, *N*-hydroxysuccinimide (HOSu) derivatives (**6**) are popular as active esters. Advantageously, the by-product *N*-hydroxysuccinimide is water-soluble.¹³

Polymer-supported *N*-hydroxysuccinimide esters (P-HOSu) tend to be more stable against hydrolysis in DMF than polymer-supported 1-hydroxybenzotriazole (P-HOBt) esters, ¹⁴ but P-HOSu esters are less reactive to amines compared to P-HOBt esters. Formation of P-HOSu esters is carried out by adding anhydrides, acid chlorides, or carboxylic acids with bases or coupling reagents such as DCC or DIC, while P-HOBt esters require additives such as phosphate salts of HOBt. ⁵

Some aliphatic and aromatic cross-linked co-polymer HOSu esters have been developed by polymerization with maleic anhydride or *N*-hydroxymaleimide derivatives. Recently, *N*-hydroxysuccinimide ring-opening metathesis was performed to give polymeric HOSu. Synthesis of polymer-supported HOSu esters on a linker using *N*-hydroxymaleimide with thiol resins has been reported. Comparison of preparation of *C*-terminal protected dipeptides in the DCC-mediated reaction shows that polymer-supported HOSu gives almost the same yields with

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 16 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

HOSu under similar conditions.¹⁸ Other polymer-supported HOSu derivatives include those prepared using 1,2,3,4-cyclopentanetetracarboxylic dianhydride such as **7**, and ammonium and alkylammonium salts (**8**) (Scheme 4).^{14,19}

Scheme 4

1.4. Nitrophenol

Bodanszky activated carboxylic acids by the formation of *p*-nitrophenyl esters utilizing *p*-nitrophenol (**9**) in 1955.²⁰ Since then, this method has been developed in both liquid- and solid-phase chemistry. The esterification of carboxylic acids in solution can be achieved via intermediate mixed carboxylic-carbonic anhydrides: ²¹ *p*-nitrophenyl chloroformate is added to N-protected amino acids in the presence of triethylamine and 10 mol% 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP) for 45 min at room temperature followed by the addition of amino acids to give di- and tripeptides in 15-98% yields with minimal racemization.²²

The initial work on solid-supported nitrophenyl esters was by Fridkin, ²³ and Panse. ²⁴ In 1974, Kalir *et. al.* reported a one-step synthesis of solid-supported *p*-nitrophenol from polystyrene, but the coupling reaction of its active ester with non-N-protected amino acids required hours for completion. ²⁵ 4-Hydroxy-3-nitrobenzophenone was prepared by the same group as an acylating reagent to increase the rate of the coupling reaction. The relative reactivity of various active esters towards *tert*-butylamine was studied: *o*-nitrophenyl benzoate, 4-(benzoyloxy)-3-nitrobenzophenone, and 1-(benzoyloxy)benzotriazole required 11 days, 7 hours, and 2 min, respectively. Coupling polymeric *o*-nitrophenyl esters with C-terminal protected amino acids gave dipeptides in quantitative yields within 10-15 min. ²⁶ Solid-supported 4-hydroxy-3-nitrobenzophenone ester 10 was used for the N-acylation (12 hours, 60 °C) of weakly nucleophilic heterocyclic amines such as aminothiazoles and aminopyridines (Scheme 5); ²⁷ Acylation of simple amines was complete within 1 hour at 20 °C to give the amides in 33 to 97% isolated yield.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 17 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

1.5. Pentafluorophenol (PFP)

Pentafluorophenol (11) is known as an auxiliary whose esters couple with amino acids efficiently, although HOBt is often preferable. In liquid-phase, the *N*-carbobenzoxy-*S*-benzyl-*L*-cysteine pentafluorophenyl ester with valine methyl ester gave 90% of the dipeptide in 5 min. ²⁸ The coupling rate constants for other pentahalogenated phenols have also been measured; pentachlorophenyl (PCP) ester took 62 min to obtain 90% of the dipeptide, and it was insoluble in THF. ²⁸ Dipeptide and tripeptide esters can be prepared in high yields with no racemization if pentafluorophenyl esters are initially prepared with DCC and then used for the coupling reaction with amino acids. ²⁹ Oligopeptides have been similarly prepared by a stepwise addition procedure. ³⁰ Various *N*-carbobenzoxyamino acid pentafluorophenyl esters, ³¹ especially pentafluorophenyl esters of Fmoc-amino acids, ³² have been prepared and fully characterized. A one-pot procedure for the simultaneous N-protection and C-terminal activation of amino acids and thiol carboxylic acids using pentafluorophenyl trifluoroacetate (12) has been reported (Scheme 6). ³³ In solid-phase synthesis, PFP esters are applied in nonadecapeptide synthesis using an automatic continuous flow synthesizer. ³⁴

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 18 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
NH_2 & O \\
OH & & \\
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
TFAPfp (12) (2 \text{ equiv}) \\
Pyridine, DMF \\
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
F_3C \\
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
NH & O \\
F_F
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
F \\
F
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
F \\$$

2. Alternative reagents for direct coupling to replace carbodiimides

Other condensation or coupling reagents have been developed in search for effective and mild conditions, since carbodiimides frequently lead to much racemization. ^{1a}

Phosphonium, uronium salts and phosphate reagents are commonly used as coupling reagents, and have intensively been studied. Phosphonium and uronium salts are usually 1-hydroxybenzotriazole-based but 1-hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole is also utilized. These coupling reagents are often used in combination with the parent HOBt or HOAt derivatives.

2.1. Phosphonium salts

Phosphonium salts have widely been used for stepwise fragment coupling reactions of peptides. This technique has especially been applied to solid-phase peptide synthesis. The major advantage of the method is to offer easy purification of the final product by gel filtration after multiple-steps of condensation reactions. BOP, PyBOP, and PyAOP phosphonium salt coupling reagents are often used.

2.1.1. O-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris(dimethylamino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (BOP)

$$O^{-P(NMe_2)_3}$$
 $N PF_6$
(13)

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 19 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

BOP (13) was prepared by Castro in 1975 by mixing tris(dimethylamino)phosphine with 1-hydroxybenzotriazole in CCl_4 at -30 °C followed by treatment with KPF₆. In this paper, protected amino acids were coupled with amino acid esters at ambient temperature in 81 to 98% yield. Another peptide synthesis using 13 at room temperature in the presence of DIEA uses carboxyamidomethyl ester as a carboxyl protecting group (Scheme 7). Among most other works, a stepwise solid-phase peptide synthesis using BOP has been described for the preparation of 7–10 amino acid residue peptides using *p*-hydroxyphenyl propionic resin.

Scheme 7

2.1.2. *O*-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris(pyrrolidino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyBOP)

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
O & P + N \\
N & N \\
N & PF_6
\end{array}$$
(14)

PyBOP (14) and BOP (13) were commonly used coupling reagents in N-acylation, especially in peptide synthesis.³⁸ PyBOP enables the preparation of phthalimides from the corresponding primary amines, including amino acids, in two steps.³⁹

1-Hydroxy-4-nitro-6-(trifluoromethyl)benzotriazole phosphonium salt (CF₃-NO₂-PyBOP or PyFNOP) (**15**), a modified PyBOP reagent, has been described as highly reactive and efficient for the N-acylation of N-methyl amino acids (Scheme 8);⁴⁰ earlier work has indicated that DCC/HOBt and BOP show less efficiency in octapeptide synthesis.⁴¹ 1-Hydroxybenzotriazole derivatives including PyBOP are comparable in reactivity and yield for the N-acylation of N-methyl amino acids.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 20 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

CbzHN OH + N OMe 15

CbzHN O OMe

$$CF_3-NO_2-PyBOP = NO_2 O P + N OMe$$

$$F_3C N PF_6$$
(15)

In an advantageous solid-phase synthesis of peptides, ⁴² 4-phosphano-2-aminobutanoyl (Abu(PO₃Me₂))-containing peptides, which can be used for biochemical studies as Ser(PO₃R₂)-containing peptides (R = alkyl), were assembled by the coupling reaction using polymer-bound Boc-Leu resin with PyBOP and *N*-methylmorpholine for 20 min (Scheme 9). ⁴³

Scheme 9

2.1.3. 7-Azabenzotriazol-1-yloxytris(pyrrolidino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyAOP)

PyAOP (16) has been studied as an extension of phosphonium salt coupling reagents such as the commonly used BOP (13) and PyBOP (14). The reaction intermediates of 16 are less stable but more reactive than those of 14. In a comparison of different reagents for cyclization of a polymer-bound heptapeptide, PyAOP/HOAt/DIEA in DMF for 2 min at 25 °C gave the best result, 74% of the cyclized product in 61% purity. A-Acylation of resin-immobilized S-methylisothiourea with carboxylic acids using PyAOP in the presence of HOAt has been reported in the synthesis of N,N'-substituted acylguanidines (Scheme 10).

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 21 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

2.2. Uronium salts

The coupling reaction with uronium salts is a popular methodology for solid-phase N-acylation. Their structures were assigned as uronium salts **17** until Carpino recognized the presence of another guanidinium salt structure **18**, which was characterized by ¹H NMR in both solid state and in solution. By IR analysis, uronium salts **17** are formed in the early activation process of an acid, and are gradually isomerized to guanidinium salts **18**.

2.2.1. *O*-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium salts

O-Benzotriazol-1-yloxytris-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate (TBTU) (**19**)^{47,49} and hexafluorophosphate (HBTU) (**20**)⁴⁸ are widely used coupling reagents,⁵⁰ and particularly for Peptide Nucleic Acid (PNA) synthesis (Scheme 11).^{3d,51}

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 22 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

These reagents have been described as good reagents for solid-phase peptide synthesis: HBTU completed 90% of the reaction in 2 min while BOP underwent 80% in 2 min and 90% in 6 min. The counter-ions of HBTU and TBTU have shown no influence in comparative experiments. Polymer-supported TBTU has been reported for preparation of N-protected dipeptide esters in acetonitrile with pyridine as a base. During the reactions, no difference in isolated yield was observed from the reaction in liquid-phase synthesis when the N-terminal was protected by Boc or Cbz group.

2.2.2. O-(7-Azabenzotriazol-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate (HATU)

HATU (**21**)^{6,53} is a very effective reagent for *N*-methyl and α,α–disubstituted amino acids, for which HOBt-based reagents do not give satisfactory results.⁵⁴ The reactions with HATU are generally faster and proceed with less racemization than reactions with HOBt-based coupling reagents.⁵⁵ HATU has been successful for sterically hindered peptide and amide bond formation in solid-phase synthesis;⁵⁶ for instance, preparation of cyclosporins on solid-phase was achieved by a combination of HATU and HOAt/DIC, and coupling yields were in the range of 50 to 99% for 6 hours reaction time. The macrolactamization was employed with HATU in high-dilution (Scheme 12),⁵⁷ and gave higher yields and faster reactions over HOBt-based reagents.⁵⁵

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 23 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

2.2.3. 2-Oxo- and 2-mercapto-pyridone 1-oxide-based uronium salts

As the starting material of O-(1,2-dihydro-2-oxo-1-pyridyl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyl-uronium tetrafluoroborate (TPTU) (**23**), N-hydroxy-1,2-dihydro-2-oxopyridine (HOPy) (**22**) was prepared as one of many activating reagents for the preparation of active esters. Use of TPTU (**23**) with HOBt resulted in virtually no racemization (<0.1%) for the coupling of Cbz-Gly-L-Phe-OH with Val-OMe while other reagents with HOBt gave 0.1-2.4% of the other diastereomer; however, a reaction with Val-OMe and N-benzyl-phenylalanine (Bz-L-Phe-OH) in the presence of TPTU/HOBt gave 21% of the D-isomer Phe segment.

(S)-(1-oxido-2-pyridinyl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethylthiouronium hexafluorophosphate (HOTT) (**24**) and tetrafluoroborate (TOTT) (**25**) were developed by Nájera^{1b} as peptide coupling reagents and were shown to give high yields for preparation of amides (Scheme 13)⁵⁹ and 35-97% for the

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 24 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

tripeptide coupling reactions of N-protected amino acids with dipeptide ester hydrogen chloride salts. A study of the racemization levels using TBTU (19) and thiouronium salts HOTT (24), TOTT (25), HODT (26), TODT (27) in the preparation of Gly-L-His-Phe-NH₂ has been reported. below

Scheme 13

2.3. Halouronium and halophosphonium salts

$$(28) (29) (30)$$

$$(31) (32)$$

Halouronium and halophosphonium salts are frequently described as good reagents especially for coupling of sterically hindered N^{α} -substituted or α,α -disubstituted amino acids, which are not easily carried out under standard conditions. One of the halouronium salts, bis(tetramethylene)fluoroformamidinium hexafluorophosphate (BTFFH) (28), was introduced for the formation of acid fluorides in liquid- and solid-phase peptide synthesis, since Fmocamino acid fluorides have been recognized as good intermediates for peptide coupling reactions. Reactions with bromotris(dimethylamino) phosphonium hexafluoro-phosphate (BroP) (29), bromotripyrrolidino phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyBroP) (30) and chloro tripyrrolidino phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyClop) (31) have been compared; in reactions of N-protected amino acids and N-methylated amino acids, peptides were obtained in high yields in 60 min with 0-0.3% racemization, but longer reaction time caused 13-18% epimerization. The reaction of 2-chloro-1,3-dimethylimidazolidium hexafluorophosphate (CIP) (32) was employed with α -aminoisobutyric acid (Aib) (Scheme 14). The efficiency of the reaction with 32 was highly enhanced by adding HOAt as an additive.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 25 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

2.4. Benzotriazine derivatives

O-(3,4-Dihydro-4-oxo-1,2,3-benzotriazine-3-yl)-*N*,*N*,*N*',*N*'-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate (TDBTU) (**33**) and 3-(diethyloxyphosphoryloxy)-1,2,3-benzotriazin-4(3*H*)-one (DEPBT) (**34**) have been reported as coupling reagents for the preparation of fully protected dipeptides⁶⁷ and N-protected amino alcohols (Scheme 15).⁶⁸ The uronium salt TDBTU (**33**) reduces racemization efficiently and often gives better yields than other reagents (HBTU and HATU etc.) as reported for liquid-⁶⁹ and solid-phase studies of the racemization of chiral PNAs.^{3d} DEPBT (**34**) as a phosphate of HO-Dhbt was described as slightly better reagent than TDBTU (**33**) for increasing the enantiomeric purity. Peptide synthesis using **34** showed higher yields of products and good suppression of racemization.⁷⁰ Reagent **34** was applied to coupling with sterically hindered structures using a resin to build cyclic peptidomimetics with potent and selective biological activity.⁷¹ The presence of **34** inhibited racemization and provided high yields in the solid-phase peptide synthesis for cyclic peptides.⁷²

Scheme 15

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 26 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

3. N-Acylazoles

As documented by Bauer, Staab and Schneider, ⁷³ acyl azolides and *N*-acylimidazoles (**35**) are recognized as efficient acylating regents. 1,1'-Carbonylbis(1*H*-imidazole) (**36**) is a classical reagent much used for the formation of amide bonds and to obtain amides and ureas although little applied in peptide synthesis. *N*-Acylbenzotriazoles (**37**) and their utilities have recently been reported. There are a variety of *N*-acylazoles, but we will limit discussion to the relatively popular acylating reagents; *N*-acylimidazoles and *N*-acylbenzotriazoles.

3.1. N-Acylimidazoles

O

$$N = N$$
 R
 $N = N$
 $N = N$

Imidazole groups are found in peptides or proteins. *N*-Acylimidazoles (**35**) are not only used as acylating reagents, but also are related to imidazole building blocks of biomolecules. ⁷⁴ Imidazole was intensively studied for the catalysis of ester aminolysis, and *N*-acylimidazole (**35**) was found to be an intermediate formed by reaction of alkyl esters. ^{1a} The reactivity of **35** was well investigated. The presence of bulky groups and electron-donating groups with the acylating reagents may decrease the reactivity. *N*-Acylimidazoles were found to be very stable in 3% TFA in chloroform, but not stable in basic conditions. ⁷⁵ This methodology has conveniently been used for the formation of amide bonds, and 1,1'-carbonylbis(1*H*-imidazole) (CDI) (**36**) has become an especially popular reagent used in the preparation of peptides from simple amides. ⁷⁶ N-acylation of adenosine and cytidine nucleosides is an important step in the synthesis of oligonucleotides and is carried out by treatment of carboxylic acids with **36** to obtain *N*-acylimidazoles, which are subsequently treated with adenine or cytosine derivatives (Scheme 16). ⁷⁷

Scheme 16

B = Adenine, Cytosine

3.2. N-Acylbenzotriazoles

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
N & & & & & \\
N & & & & \\
N & & & & \\
N & & & & & \\
N & & & & \\$$

N-Acylbenzotriazoles (37)⁷⁸ are efficient reagents in liquid-phase and have been used under mild conditions for the preparation of primary, secondary and tertiary amides. 79 1,1'-Carbonylbis(1*H*benzotriazole) (38) has been used for the preparation of unsymmetrical ureas in liquid-phase⁸⁰ and for the acylation of amino acids in both liquid- and solid-phases.⁸¹ Recently, N-acylation of 1-(α-Boc-aminoacyl)benzotriazoles (39) with amines was carried out to give single products in high yields without any detectable racemization.⁸² In further work, peptides have been prepared in high yields without detectable racemization from Boc- and Cbz-protected benzotriazolylamino acids. Activation of C-terminal of Cbz-protected amino acids and dipeptides was carried out at 0 to 25 °C in a solution of 1*H*-benzotriazole with thionyl chloride. On the other hand, 15 to 50% of racemization in Cbz-protected benzotriazolyl-amino acids was observed when methylsulfonyl-benzotriazole was used in THF refluxing for 5 hours in the presence of triethylamine, while Boc-protected amino acids showed no racemization under these conditions. These activated amino acids and peptides underwent coupling reactions with amino acids in acetonitrile/water solution at ambient temperature, and the completion of these reactions was observed by the disappearance of 39 after 10-40 minutes. No racemization was observed in this process by ¹H NMR analysis of the crude reaction mixture (Scheme 17). ⁸³ In comparison, HOBt active esters are very sensitive to moisture and their preparation requires another coupling reagent such as DCC or DIC. 1a

R = PhCH₂, Me, Isopropyl R' = HOCH₂, PhCH₂, Me, isopropyl, Indoylmethyl

Scheme 17

N-Acylbenzotriazoles (**37**) have also been applied to solid-phase synthesis. Wang-resinlinked amines were converted into the amides using **37** and gave aryl amides followed by the cleavage from the resin (Scheme 18).⁸⁴ Acylbenzotriazole-grafted polyurethane has been reported in which the polymer-bound *N*-acylbenzotriazole was subsequently replaced by amine or hydroxyl group.⁸⁵

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 28 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

4. Other acylating reagents

4.1. Amino acid halides

Peptide coupling reactions using amino acid chlorides were not recommended initially due to their instability. Later, Carpino reported that Fmoc-amino acid chlorides (40) were highly reactive but stable enough to synthesize short peptide segments, and gave less than 0.1% overall racemization. Peptide synthesis via 40 was introduced as a rapid continuous coupling method using the sequence of (i) activation of carboxylic acid, (ii) the coupling reaction, and (iii) removing Fmoc protecting group. However, this method is limited to substances with non acid-sensitive groups (Boc protecting group can not be used.), and long-term storage of the amino acid chlorides is not practical.

Fmoc-amino acid fluorides (**41**) are, on the other hand, highly reactive, but more stable than the corresponding chlorides towards hydrolysis and degradation. Compounds **41** can be advantageously prepared from Fmoc-, Boc-, or Cbz-amino acids via cyanuric fluoride, and are often in crystalline form. ⁹⁰ Fmoc-amino acid fluorides were also applied to solid-phase peptide synthesis using sterically hindered amino acids, ⁹¹ and for the acylation of sulfonamide type linkers (Scheme 19). ⁹²

Scheme 19

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 29 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

4.2. *N*-Acyl-2-methylamino-2-thiazolines

Kim reported on 2-methyl-2-thiazoline (42),⁹³ designed to be a good leaving group for N-acylation; in competitive acylation of a primary and secondary amine, *N*-acyl-2-methylamino-2-thiazolines (43) gave higher yields of the products with primary amines, in high chemoselectivity as compared to using acid chlorides and anhydrides (Scheme 20).⁹⁴

Ph
$$\sim$$
 NH₂ \rightarrow Ph \sim NH₂ R + S \sim NH₂ R = Me, Et, *t*-Bu

Scheme 20

4.3. Lewis acid mediated N-acylation

Since the introduction of Lewis acid mediated N-acylation developed by Weinreb, ⁹⁵ this methodology has been applied to construct a variety of peptides. In the original method, a dimethylaluminum amide reacts with an ester in dichloromethane at 25-41 °C to give an amide in more than 80% yield. A synthesis of oligopeptides in solution employing the modified Weinreb's method involved the treatment of N-protected amino acids with trimethylaluminum (44) followed by the addition of N-protected amino acid esters or peptide esters (Scheme 21). ⁹⁶ The epimerization in the preparation of dipeptides by this method was observed to be less than 1% by reverse phase HPLC analysis, but in the preparation of tripeptides, 10-20% of epimerization was detected.

Scheme 21

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 30 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

Conclusions

Although DIC or DCC-mediated coupling reactions in the presence of HOBt have been the most commonly used systems in liquid- and solid-phase, new coupling reagents and combinations of coupling reagents and additives are being actively investigated. Structures and conditions affect the yield, enantioselectivity, and reaction rate observed. In the liquid-phase, additives such as HOBt and HOAt were mainly used due to the high reactivity and the good suppression of racemization. When these methods are applied to solid-phase syntheses, the solubility of the reagents and the by-products from DDC become problems. Reactions using a coupling reagent DIC or relatively soluble additives such as HOSu can simplify the workup process. Recently, many combinations of uronium salts with additives were reported especially for applications to solid-phase syntheses. As alternative coupling reagents, phosphonium salts and uronium salts from the additives such as HOBt and HOAt were developed, and were applied to liquid- and solid-phase. However, while polymer-bound uronium salts with the corresponding additives have been utilized, polymer-bound uronium salts have not been developed. Acid fluorides, halonium salts, and halophosphonium salts are effective reagents for sterically hindered substances. Acid fluorides have been reported in solid-phase syntheses, but not halonium and halophosphonium salts. Moreover, many coupling reactions are carried out in organic solutions, and many of the reagents discussed in this review are moisture sensitive. A one-pot reaction using p-nitrophenol for small peptide synthesis was conducted in a partially aqueous solution. N-Acylbenzotriazoles are also proved to be useful coupling reagents for simple amides as well as peptides in organic/aqueous solution.

Acknowledgements

We thank Prof. Luis Moroder (Max Plank Institute, Munich) for very helpful comments on this review.

References

- 1. (a) Gross, E.; Meienhofer, J. *The Peptides*; Academic Press: New York, 1979. (b) Nájera, C. *Synlett* **2002**, 1388. (c) Goodman, M.; Felix, A.; Moroder, L.; Toniolo, C. *Synthesis of Peptides and Peptidomimetics* (E22a): New York, 2001.
- 2. Merrifield, R. B. Angew. Chem. Int., Ed. 1985, 24, 799.
- 3. (a) Acharya, A. N.; Ostresh, J. M.; Houghten, R. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 1157. (b) Madder, A.; Li, L.; de Muynck, H.; Farcy, N.; van Haver, D.; Fant, F.; Vanhoenacker, G.; Sandra, P.; Davis, A. P.; de Clercq, P. J. *J. Comb. Chem.* **2002**, *4*, 552. (c) Yu, Y.; Ostresh, J.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 31 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

- M.; Houghten, R. A. J. Org. Chem. **2002**, 67, 3138. (d) Tedeschi, T.; Corradini, R.; Marchelli, R.; Pushl, A.; Nielsen, P. E. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2002**, 13, 1629.
- (a) Mokotoff, M.; Patchornik, A. *Int. J. Peptide Protein Res.* 1983, 21, 145. (b) Dendrinos, K.; Jeong, J.; Huang, W.; Kalivretenos, A. G. *Chem. Commun.* 1998, 499. (c) Gooding, O. W.; Vo, L.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Labadie, J. W. *J. Comb. Chem.* 2002, 4, 576. (d) Makotoff, M.; Zhao, M.; Roth, S. M.; Shelley, J. A.; Slavoski, J. N.; Kouttab, N. M. *J. Med. Chem.* 1990, 33, 354.
- 5. Pop, I. E.; Déprez, B. P.; Tartar, A. L. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 2594.
- 6. Carpino, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4397.
- 7. Carpino, L. A.; Ferrer, F. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2793.
- 8. Spetzler, J. C.; Meldal, M.; Felding, J.; Vedsø, P; Begtrup, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1998, 1727.
- 9. Lee, M.-R.; Lee, J.; Shin, I. Synlett 2002, 1463.
- 10. (a) König, W.; Geiger, R. *Chem. Ber.* **1970**, *103*, 788. (b) König, W.; Geiger, R. *Chem. Ber.* **1970**, *103*, 2024. (c) König, W.; Geiger, R. *Chem. Ber.* **1970**, *103*, 2034.
- 11. Atherton, E.; Cameron, L.; Meldal, M.; Sheppard, R. C. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1986**, 1763.
- 12. (a) Atherton, E.; Holder, J. L.; Meldal, M.; Sheppard, R. C.; Valerio, R. M. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I* **1988**, 2887. (b) Cameron, L. R.; Holder, J. L.; Meldal, M.; Sheppard, R. C. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I* **1988**, 2895.
- 13. (a) Anderson, G. W.; Zimmerman, J. E.; Callahan, F. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1963**, 85, 3039. (b) Anderson, G. W.; Zimmerman, J. E.; Callahan, F. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1964**, 86, 1839.
- 14. Adamczyk, M.; Fishpaugh, J. R.; Mattingly, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 463.
- 15. (a) Fridkin, M.; Patchornik, A.; Katchalski, E. *Biochemistry* **1972**, *11*, 466. (b) Akiyama, M; Shimizu, K.; Narita, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1976**, 1015. (c) Andreev, S. M.; Tsiryapkin, V. A.; Samoilova, N. A.; Mironova, N. V.; Davidovich, Yu. A.; Rogozhin, S. V. *Synthesis* **1977**, 303.
- 16. Barrett, A. G. M.; Cramp, S. M.; Roberts, R. S.; Zecri, F. J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 261.
- 17. (a) Katoh, M.; Sodeoka, M. *Bioorg. & Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 881. (b) Sumiyoshi, H.; Shimizu, T.; Katoh, M.; Baba, Y.; Sodeoka, M. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 3923.
- 18. Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C.; Soriano, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 4487.
- 19. (a) Shao, H.; Zhang, Q.; Goodnow, R.; Chen, L.; Tam, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, 4257. (b) Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C.; Soriano, J. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, 463.
- 20. (a) Bodanszky, M. *Nature* **1955**, 685. (b) Bodanszky, M.; Fagan, D. T. *Int. J. Peptide Protein Res.* **1977**, 10, 375.
- 21. Kim, S; Lee, J. I.; Kim, Y. C. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 560.
- 22. Gagnon, P.; Huang, X.; Therrien, E.; Keillor, J. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 7717.
- 23. (a) Fridkin, M.; Patchornik, A.; Katchalski, E. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1965**, *87*, 4646. (b) Fridkin, M.; Patchornik, A.; Katchalski, E. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1966**, *88*, 3164. (c) Fridkin, M.; Patchornik, A.; Katchalski, E. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1968**, *90*, 2953.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 32 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

- 24. Panse, G. T.; Laufer, D. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1970, 4181.
- 25. Kalir, R.; Fridkin, M.; Patchornik, A. Eur. J. Biochem. 1974, 42, 151.
- 26. Cohen, B. J.; Karoly-Hafeli, H.; Patchornik, A. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 922.
- 27. Kim, K.; Le, K. Synlett 1999, 1957.
- 28. Kovacs, J.; Mayers, G. L.; Johnson, R. H.; Cover, R. E.; Ghatak, U. R. *J. Org. Chem.* **1970**, *35*, 1810.
- 29. Kovacs, J.; Kisfaludy, L.; Ceprini, M. Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 183.
- 30. Kisfaludy, L.; Schön, I.; Szirtes, T.; Nyéki, O.; Löw, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1974, 1785.
- 31. Kisfaludy, L.; Roberts, J. E.; Johnson, R. H.; Mayers, G. L.; Kovacs, J. *J. Org. Chem.* **1970**, *35*, 3563.
- 32. (a) Kisfaludy, L.; Schön, I. *Synthesis* **1983**, 325. (b) Schön, I.; Kisfaludy, L. *Synthesis* **1986**, 303.
- 33. Dryland, A.; Sheppard, R. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 859.
- 34. Gayo, L. M.; Suto, M. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 4915.
- 35. Castro, B.; Dormoy, J. R.; Evin, G.; Selve, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 1219.
- 36. Martinez, J.; Laur, J.; Castro, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 739.
- 37. Rivaille, P.; Gautron, J. P.; Castro, B.; Milhaud, G. *Tetrahedron* **1980**, *36*, 3413.
- 38. (a) Coste, J.; Le-Nguyen, D.; Castro, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, 205. (b) Høeg-Jensen, T.; Jakobsen, M. H.; Holm, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, 6387.
- 39. Aguilar, N.; Moyano, A.; Pericàs, M. A.; Riera, A. Synthesis 1998, 313.
- 40. (a) Wijkmans, J. C. H. M.; Blok, F. A. A.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H.; Bloemhoff, W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, 4643. (b) Kehler, J.; Püschl, A.; Dahl, O. *Acta Chem. Scand.* **1996**, *50*, 1171.
- 41. Galpin, I. J.; Mohammed, A. K. A.; Patel, A.; Priestley, G. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 1763.
- 42. Tourwe, D.; Couder, J.; Ceusters, M.; Meert, D.; Burks, T. F.; Kramer, T. H.; Davis, P.; Knapp, R.; Yamamura, H. I.; Leysen, J. E.; van Binst, G. *Int. J. Peptide Protein Res.* **1992**, *39*, 131.
- 43. Perich, J. W.; Reynolds, E. C. Aust. J. Chem. 1992, 45, 1765.
- 44. Albericio, F.; Cases, M.; Alsina, J.; Triolo, S. A.; Carpino, L. A.; Kates, S. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, 4853.
- 45. (a) Dodd, D. S.; Zhao, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, 1259. (b) (i) In *Guanidino Compounds in Biology and Medicine*; De Deyn, P.; Marescau, B.; Stalon, V.; Qureshi, I. A., Eds.; John Libbey: London, 1992. (ii) In *Guanidino Compounds in Biology and Medicine 2*: de Deyn, P. P.; Marescau, B.; Qureshi, I. A.; Mori, A., Eds; John Libbey: London, 1997.
- 46. (a) Carpino, L. A.; El-Faham, A. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, 59, 695. (b) Carpino, L. A.; Ionescu, D.; El-Faham, A. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, 61, 2460.
- 47. Knorr, R.; Trzeciak, A.; Bannwarth, W.; Gillessen, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 1927.
- 48. Carpino, L. A.; Imazumi, H.; El-Faham, A.; Ferrer, F. J.; Zhang, C.; Lee, Y.; Foxman, B. M.; Henklein, P.; Hanay, C.; Mügge, C.; Wenschuh, H.; Klose, J.; Beyermann, M.; Bienert, M. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2002**, *41*, 441.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 33 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

- 49. Baek, M.-G.; Roy, R. Bioorg. & Med. Chem. 2001, 9, 3005.
- 50. For recent applications in solid-phase peptide synthesis, see (a) Nguyen, H.-H.; Imhof, D.; Kronen, M.; Schlegel, B.; Härtl, A.; Gräfe, U.; Gera, L.; Reissmann, S. *J. Med. Chem.* **2002**, 45, 2781. (b) Jeon, J. W.; Son, S. J.; Yoo, C. E.; Hong, I. S.; Song, J. B.; Suh, J. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, 4, 4155.
- 51. (a) Planas, M.; Bardají, E.; Jensen, K. J.; Barany, G. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 7281. (b) Neuner, P.; Monaci, P. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2002**, 13, 676.
- 52. Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C.; Soriano, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 2463.
- 53. Kienhöfer, A. Synlett 2001, 1811.
- 54. Humphrey, J. M.; Chamberlin, A. R. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 2243.
- 55. Campbell, J. E.; Englund, E. E.; Burke, S. D. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2273.
- 56. Angell, Y. M.; Thomas, T. L.; Flentke, G. R.; Rich, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7279.
- 57. Hale, K. J.; Lazarides, L. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1832.
- 58. Paquette, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 5186.
- 59. (a) Bailén, M. A.; Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, 9809. (b) Bailén, M. A.; Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, 5013.
- 60. Bailén, M. A.; Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 8936.
- 61. Albericio, F.; Bailén, M. A.; Chinchilla, R.; Dodsworth, D. J.; Nájera, C. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 9607.
- 62. (a) Tung, R. H.; Rich, D. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *107*, 4342. (b) Coste, J.; Dufour, M.-N.; Pantaloni, A.; Castro, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, 669. (c) Frérot, E.; Coste, J.; Pantaloni, A.; Dufour, M.-N.; Jouin, P. *Tetrahedron* **1991**, *47*, 259. (d) Wenschuh, H.; Beyermann, M.; Krause, E.; Carpino, L. A.; Bienert, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, 3733.
- 63. El-Faham, A. Chem. Lett. 1998, 671.
- (a) Wenschuh, H.; Beyermann, M.; Krause, E.; Brudel, M.; Winter, R.; Schümann, M.; Carpino, L. A.; Bienert, M. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3275.
 (b) Carpino, L. A.; El-Faham, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5401.
 (c) Carpino, L. A.; Beyermann, M.; Wenschuh, H.; Bienert, M. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 268.
- 65. Coste, J.: Frérot, E.: Jouin, P.: Castro, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 1967.
- 66. Akaji, K.; Kuriyama, N.; Kiso, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 3315.
- 67. Ferriño, S.; López-Tapia, F.; Salgado-Zamora, H. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 1461.
- 68. Liu, P.; Sun, B.-Y.; Chen, X.-H.; Tian, G.-L.; Ye, Y.-H. Synth. Commun. 2002, 32, 473.
- 69. Hiebl, J.; Alberts, D. P.; Banyard, A. F.; Baresch, K.; Baumgartner, H.; Bernwieser, I.; Bhatnagar, P. K.; Blanka, M.; Bodenteich, M.; Chen, T.; Esch, P. M.; Kollmann, H.; Lantos, I.; Leitner, K.; Mayrhofer, G.; Patel, R.; Rio, A.; Rovenszky, F.; Stevenson, D.; Tubman, K. D.; Undheim, K.; Weihtrager, H.; Welz, W.; Winkler, K. *J. Peptide Res.* **1999**, *54*, 54.
- 70. Li, H.; Jiang, X.; Ye, Y.-H.; Fan, C.; Romoff, T.; Goodman, M. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 91.
- 71. Goodman, M.; Zapf, C.; Rew, Y. Biopolymers (Peptide Science) 2001, 60, 229.
- 72. Tang, Y.-C.; Xie, H.-B.; Tian, G.-L.; Ye, Y.-H. J. Peptide Res. 2002, 60, 95.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 34 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc

- 73. Bauer, H.; Staab, K. H.; Schneider, K. M.; In *Azolides Organic Synthesis and Biochemistry;* John Wiley and Sons Ltd: New York, 1998.
- 74. (a) Olson, G. L.; Bolin, D. R.; Bonner, M. P.; Bös, M.; Cook, C. M.; Fry, D. C.; Graves, B. J.; Hatada, M.; Hill, D. E.; Kahn, M.; Madison, V. S.; Rusiecki, V. K.; Sarabu, R.; Sepinwall, J.; Vincent, G. P.; Voss, M. E. *J. Med. Chem.* **1993**, *36*, 3039. (b) Beltrán, M.; Pedroso, E.; Grandas, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, 4115.
- 75. Zaramella, S.; Strömberg, R.; Yeheskiely, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2633.
- (a) Anderson, G. W.; Paul, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 4423. (b) Freund, R.; Mederski, W. W. K. R. Helv. Chim. Acta 2000, 83, 1247. (c) Xiao, H.; Clarke, J. R.; Marquardt, R. R.; Frohlich, A. A. J. Agric. Food. Chem. 1995, 43, 2092. (d) Paul, R.; Anderson, G. W. J. Org. Chem. 1962, 27, 2094.
- 77. Sinha, N. D.; Davis, P.; Schultze, L. M.; Upadhya, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 9277.
- 78. (a) Katritzky, A. R.; Yang, B.; Semenzin, D. *J. Org. Chem.* **1997**, *62*, 726. (b) Katritzky, A. R.; Zhang, Y.; Singh, S. K. *Synthesis* **2003**, 2795.
- 79. Katritzky, A. R.; He, H.-Y.; Suzuki, K. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8210.
- 80. Katritzky, A. R.; Pleynet, D. P. M.; Yang, B. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4155.
- 81. Nieuwenhuijzen, J. W.; Conti, P. G. M.; Ottenheijm, H. C. J.; Linders, J. T. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, 7811.
- 82. Katritzky, A. R.; Wang, M.; Yang, H.; Zhang, S.; Akhmedov, N. G. ARKIVOC 2002, Viii, 134.
- 83. Katritzky, A. R.; Suzuki, K.; Singh, S. K.
- 84. Katritzky, A. R.; Rogovoy, B. V.; Kirichenko, N.; Vvedensky, V. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2002**, *12*, 1809.
- 85. Kang, I.-K.; Kwon, O. H.; Kim, M. K.; Lee, Y. M.; Sung, Y. K. Biomaterials 1997, 18, 1099.
- 86. Carpino, L. A.; Sadat-Aalaee, D.; Beyermann, M. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1673.
- 87. Carpino, L. A.; Cohen, B. J.; Stephens, K. E. Jr.; Sadat-Aalaee, S. Y.; Tien, J.-H.; Langridge, D. C. J. Org. Chem. **1986**, *51*, 3732.
- 88. Beyermann, M.; Bienert, M.; Niedrich, H. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 721.
- 89. (a) Carpino, L. A.; Sadat-Aalaee, D.; Chao, H. G.; DeSelms, R. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1990**, *112*, 9651. (b) Okada, Y.; Iguchi, S. *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Perkin Trans. 1* **1988**, 2129.
- 90. (a) Carpino, L. A.; Sadat-Aalaee, D.; Chao, H. G.; DeSelms, R. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1990**, *112*, 9651. (b) Carpino, L. A.; Mansour, E.-S. M. E.; Sadat-Aalaee, D. *J. Org. Chem.* **1991**, *56*, 2611.
- 91. Wenschuh, H.; Beyermann, M.; Krause, E.; Brudel, M.; Winter, R.; Schümann, M.; Carpino, L. A.; Bienert, M. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3275.
- 92. Ingenito, R.; Drežnjak, D.; Guffler, S.; Wenschuh, H. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1187.
- 93. Kim, T. H.; Cha, M.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 3125.
- 94. Kim, T. H.; Yang, G.-Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 9553.
- 95. Basha, A.; Lipton, M.; Weinreb, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, 4171.
- 96. Martin, S. F.; Dwyer, M. P.; Lynch, C. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 1517.

ISSN 1424-6376 Page 35 [©]ARKAT USA, Inc